Guide to the Urban Development Zone Allowance

Issue 10



Income Tax







Guide to the Urban Development Zone Allowance

Preface

This guide is a general guide about the urban development zone (UDZ) allowance provided for in section 13*quat* of the Income Tax Act 58 of 1962 (the Act). It is not meant to deal extensively with the precise technical and legal aspects associated with the allowance but is intended merely as a general guide for potential investors. Moreover, urban development zones should not be confused with "special economic zones" under sections 12R and 12S.

This guide is not an "official publication" as defined in section 1 of the Tax Administration Act 28 of 2011 (TA Act) and accordingly does not create a practice generally prevailing under section 5 of that Act. It does not consider the technical and legal detail that is often associated with taxation and should, therefore, not be used as a legal reference.

It is also not a binding general ruling (BGR) under section 89 of the TA Act. Taxpayers requiring an advance tax ruling¹ or a VAT ruling² should visit the SARS website at **www.sars.gov.za**³ for details of the application procedure.

The guide, amongst others, provides -

- general guidance regarding the application and interpretation of the provisions of the Act that pertain to the allowance;
- an overview of the income tax consequences associated with the disposal of a building on which the allowance was previously allowed or the ceasing of a taxpayer to use such a building solely for the purposes of that person's trade; and
- particulars of municipalities that have demarcated areas for purposes of the allowance, as well as the process of demarcation that was followed.

This guide is based on the legislation as at time of issue.

For more information, assistance, and guidance you may -

- visit the **SARS website**;
- contact the SARS National Service Centre (only between 8am and 4.30pm South African time except on Wednesdays when the service centre can be called between 9am and 4.30pm) –
 - > if calling locally, on 0800 00 7277; or
 - ➢ if calling from abroad, on +27 11 602 2093;
- have a virtual consultation with a SARS consultant by making an appointment via the **SARS website**;
- visit your nearest SARS service centre after making an appointment via the **SARS** website;

¹ For further commentary, see the *Comprehensive Guide to Advance Tax Rulings*.

² For further commentary, see the VAT Rulings Process Reference Guide.

³ Navigate to Legal Counsel ⇒ Legal Counsel Publications ⇒ Find a Guide, and select the category Tax Administration (for the guide relating to advanced tax rulings) **or** Value-Added Tax (VAT) (for the guide relating to VAT rulings.

- visit your nearest SARS service centre, after making an appointment via the **SARS website**; or
- contact your own tax advisor or tax practitioner.

Comments on this guide may be e-mailed to **policycomments@sars.gov.za**.

Leveraged Legal Products SOUTH AFRICAN REVENUE SERVICE 25 June 2025

DISCLAIMER

Operational information contained in this guide is up to date as at date of publication. However, always refer to the **SARS website** for any guidelines specifically issued on such operational matters.

Hyperlinks, and cross-references display as **bold** text to assist our visually impaired readers. For example, **SARS website**, and see **2.5.3**.

Contents

Prefac	e	i
Pream	ble	1
1.	Introduction and broad overview of the allowance	1
2.	Requirements that must be complied with in order to deduct the allowance [section 13 <i>quat</i> (2)]	2
2.1 2.1.1 2.1.2	Building requirement Extent of the erection, extension, addition or improvement that has to be undertaken	. 2
2.2	Urban development zone requirement	
2.3	Trade requirement	
2.4	Owner requirement	
2.5 2.5.1	Date requirements	
2.5.2	Trade date requirement.	11
2.5.3	Treatment of the allowance not fully deducted before 1 April 2030	
3.	Costs that are deductible under section 13quat	13
4.	The position of a developer in the context of section 13quat	14
5.	Purchases from developers and deemed costs [section 13quat(3B)]	16
6.	Amount of the allowance that may be deducted from income under section 13 <i>quat</i>	17
6.1	The erection of a new building or the extension of or addition to any building [section 13 <i>quat</i> (3)(<i>a</i>)]	17
6.2	Improvements to an existing building [section 13quat(3)(b)]	19
6.3	The erection of a new building or the extension of or addition to any building to the extent that it relates to a low-cost residential unit [section 13 <i>quat</i> (3A)(<i>a</i>)]	20
6.4	Improvements to an existing building, to the extent that it relates to a low-cost residential unit [section 13 <i>quat</i> (3A)(<i>b</i>)]	20
7.	Construction of and improvements to buildings located on qualifying third party-owned land	22
8.	Limitation for the deduction of other allowances on a building situated in an urban development zone	
9.	Urban development zone-related documentation	24
9.1	Documentation in relation to new or improved buildings or purchases from developers	
9.2	Documentation that must be obtained from the municipality	
10.	Reporting requirements	27
10.1	By municipalities [section 13 <i>quat</i> (9)]	27
10.2	By developers [section 13quat(10A)]	
10.3	By the Commissioner [section 13quat(11)]	28
11.	Objections to the disallowance of an allowance	29
12.	Interpretational issues relating to section 13quat	29
13.	Conclusion	29
	re A – UDZ 1	
	re B – UDZ 2 re C – UDZ 3	
Annexu	re D – UDZ 4	34
Annexu	re E – Section 13 <i>quat</i>	35

Annexure F – Section 12N	
--------------------------	--

Preamble

In this guide unless the context indicates otherwise -

- "allowance" means the accelerated depreciation allowance provided for in section 13*quat*;
- **"building"** means a commercial or residential building or part of such a building which is located within a UDZ;
- "Minister" means the Minister of Finance;
- "section" means a section of the Act;
- "the Act" means the Income Tax Act 58 of 1962;
- **"UDZ**" means urban development zone as defined in section 13quat(1); and
- any other word or expression bears the meaning ascribed to it in the Act.

All guides, interpretation notes, and rulings referred to in this guide are available on the SARS website at **www.sars.gov.za.** Unless indicated otherwise, the latest issue of these documents should be consulted.

1. Introduction and broad overview of the allowance

Similar to many other countries, South Africa has a number of urban areas that are impoverished and suffering from extensive urban decay. In order to address these problems and maintain existing infrastructure, governments internationally have increasingly used tax measures to support efforts aimed at regenerating these urban areas.

In 2003, the Minister announced a tax incentive in the form of an accelerated depreciation allowance under section 13*quat* which sought to promote investment in designated inner cities. The core objectives of the allowance are to address dereliction and dilapidation in South Africa's largest cities and to encourage urban renewal and development within these cities. This is achieved by promoting investment by the private sector in the construction or improvement of commercial and residential buildings, including low-cost housing units situated within demarcated UDZs. The allowance is also intended to encourage investment in highly populated areas, central business districts or inner-city environments and areas with existing urban transport infrastructure for trains, buses or taxis. Currently, 15 cities in South Africa have one or more demarcated UDZs within its boundaries making up a total of 16 UDZs.

The allowance, when deducted, reduces the taxable income of a taxpayer and is not limited to the taxable income of a taxpayer. It can therefore create an assessed loss.

The allowance is available for buildings brought into use on or before 31 March 2030.⁴ See **2.5.3** for detail of the continued claiming of the allowance beyond this date.

⁴ See the Rates and Monetary Amounts and Amendment of Revenue Laws Bill B-14 of 2025. Also see the Budget Review 2025 for more detail on the extension of the sunset date.

2. Requirements that must be complied with in order to deduct the allowance [section 13quat(2)]

Any person⁵ will be eligible to deduct the allowance only if *all* the requirements listed in 2.1 - 2.5 relating to a building are complied with.

2.1 Building requirement

The allowance under section 13quat applies to buildings meeting certain requirements.

The word "building" is not defined in the Act but has been considered judicially.⁶ For instance, in *CIR v Le Sueur*,⁷ the court held that a "building" is "a substantial structure, more or less of a permanent nature, consisting of walls, a roof and the necessary appurtenances thereto".⁸

Section 13*quat* applies to a commercial⁹ and residential¹⁰ building as well as low-cost residential units.

When deducting the allowance, only the cost of the erection, extension, addition to or improvement of the building qualifies for the allowance while the cost of the land is specifically excluded (see **3**).

2.1.1 Extent of the erection, extension, addition or improvement that has to be undertaken

Section 13*quat* applies not only to the erection of a building, but also to the extension, addition to or improvement of the building if certain requirements are met. Under section 13quat(2)(c), the erection, extension, addition to or improvement of the building by the *taxpayer* or *developer*¹¹ must cover either the entire building or a floor area of at least 1 000 m² of that building. This requirement ensures that a substantial part of a building is enhanced thus aligning with the purpose of the section.

The 1 000 m² requirement applies only when *a part* of a building is extended, added to or improved. For example, the replacement of the roof of a part of a building must represent a floor area of at least 1 000 m² before the taxpayer can deduct an allowance on the cost of effecting the improvements. The 1 000 m² requirement does not have to be complied with if an entire building is erected, added to, or improved.

¹¹ See **4** for more information on developers.

⁵ The term "person" is defined in section 1(1) to include an insolvent estate, the estate of a deceased person, any trust and any portfolio of a collective investment scheme but excludes a foreign partnership. The inclusion of a company, close corporation and natural person in the definition must be deduced from the ordinary dictionary meaning of "person" and from the definition of the term in the Interpretation Act 33 of 1957.

⁶ See the *Guide to Building Allowances* for a detailed consideration of the meaning of "building".

⁷ 1960 (2) SA 708 (A), 23 SATC 261 at 273.

⁸ See Interpretation Note 107 "Deduction in respect of Commercial Buildings" for more information on the meaning of "building".

⁹ See Interpretation Note 107 "Deduction in respect of Commercial Buildings".

¹⁰ See Interpretation Note 106 "Deduction in respect of certain Residential Units".

Section 13quat(2)(d) states that when a taxpayer purchases a building from a developer on or after 8 November 2005, such developer must –

- not have previously deducted any allowances under section 13quat on that building; and
- in the case of the improvement of a building in which the existing structural or exterior framework is preserved, have incurred expenditure on these improvements which is equal to at least 20% of the purchase price paid by the purchaser for the building.

A developer that extended, added to or improved part of a building, must comply with the 1 000 m² requirement before selling that building or a part of it in order for the purchaser to qualify for an allowance.

In such a case, the purchaser who acquires only a unit in an improved building, will not be precluded from deducting the allowance since the developer had already complied with the requirement in section 13quat(2)(c). The purchaser will therefore be allowed to deduct an allowance on the cost of the expenditure incurred by the developer which is equal to at least 20% of the purchase price, provided that all the other requirements of the section are met.

Example 1 – The 1000 m² requirement

Facts:

Developer A decided to extend a two-storey building by adding three additional floors thus converting it into a five-storey building. Before the extension, the two-storey building had a floor space of less than 1 000 m² in its entirety. The 1 000 m² requirement did not, however, apply to the two-storey building since this requirement applies only when part of a building is erected, added to or improved.

The extension of the building consisted of 5 apartments on each floor with each apartment having a floor area of 80 m². These apartments were sold off to purchasers upon completion.

Result:

The addition of the three floors can be classified as an addition to part of a building. The floor area of this addition amounted to $1 \ 200 \ m^2 \ (80 \ m^2 \ x \ 5 = 400 \ m^2; \ 400 \ m^2 \ x \ 3 = 1200 \ m^2)$. A developer extending, adding to or improving part of a building, must comply with the $1 \ 000 \ m^2$ requirement before selling that building or a part of it in order for the purchaser to qualify for an allowance.

Since Developer A complied with the 1 000 m² requirement in relation to the addition and did not claim any allowances under section 13*quat*, the purchasers were eligible to claim an allowance on the apartments bought by them provided that they complied with all the other requirements of section 13*quat*.

2.1.2 "Extensions", "additions" and "improvements"

Section 13*quat* distinguishes between an extension, an addition and an improvement. Since the words "addition" and "extension" are similar in their characteristics, dictionary definitions are useful for distinguishing these terms.

The word "addition" is defined in the Collins Dictionary as $-^{12}$

"4. a part added to a building or piece of land".

In the context of section 13*quat*, an addition would accordingly include any development that would result in something being appended to an existing building which would effectively change the existing structure of such building. For example, adding additional floors or constructing a new block which attaches to an existing building might be considered to be an addition for purposes of this section.

The Collins Dictionary defines "extension" as $-^{13}$

"1. countable noun

An extension is a new room or building which is added to an existing building or group of buildings.

5. a room or rooms added to an existing building".

From the above it can be concluded that an addition refers to those developments which are of a more substantial scale while an extension covers those erections that can be classified as structurally minor when compared to an addition. In both instances, however, the exterior framework of the building is altered in comparison to the initial framework.

The Collins Dictionary defines "improvement" as -14

- "1. the act of improving or the state of being improved
- 2. something that improves, esp an addition or alteration
- 3. alteration of the structure, fixtures, fittings, or decor of a building without changing its function".

An improvement accordingly enhances something that is already in existence.¹⁵ Such enhancement can take the form of adding something to an existing part of a building or by replacing an existing part. Improvements to a building will, for purposes of section 13*quat*, include any extension or addition to the building which is incidental to that improvement, and which preserves the existing structural or exterior framework of the building. The alteration of the structure of the building is regarded as an addition or extension. An improvement must, however, be distinguished from a repair. The facts of each case will determine whether an improvement has been effected.

Although it might not always be clear whether one deals with an extension, addition, or improvement, it is critical that the requirement under section 13quat(2)(c) relating to at least 1 000 m² be met.

¹² www.collinsdictionary.com/dictionary/english/addition [Accessed 25 June 2025].

¹³ www.collinsdictionary.com/dictionary/english/extension [Accessed 25 June 2025].

¹⁴ www.collinsdictionary.com/dictionary/english/improvement [Accessed 25 June 2025].

¹⁵ See Interpretation Note 107 "Deduction in respect of Commercial Buildings" for more detail on the meaning of improvement.

2.2 Urban development zone requirement

The building that was constructed, extended, added to or improved, or purchased from a developer, must be located within a UDZ.¹⁶ Several criteria were taken into account in the demarcation of UDZ areas to ensure that the impact of the allowance was maximised in the parts of the cities that were most in need of development.

Each municipality with approved demarcated zones had to prove to the Minister that –¹⁷

- the demarcated area was located within the boundaries of one of the designated municipalities;
- the area had been demarcated through formal resolution by the municipality;
- the demarcated area was prioritised in the municipality's integrated development plan as a priority area for further investments to promote business or industrial activity or residential settlements to support such activity;
- the contribution from that area was undergoing a sustained real or nominal decline, while it previously contributed a significant portion of the aggregate revenue collections of the municipality as measured in the form of property rates or assessed property values; and
- significant fiscal measures had been implemented by the municipality to support the regeneration of that area, including the appropriation of significant funds for developing the area in the annual budget of the municipality, special tariffs for categories of residential, commercial or industrial users or partnership agreements with the business community for the promotion of urban development within that area.

As mentioned above, in order for an additional demarcated UDZ to be approved, the municipality must have a population of 1 million persons or more and each area must comply with all the requirements for demarcation.¹⁸ Certain restrictions apply relating to the size of the land regarded as UDZs under section 13quat(7)(a).

In the event that a second demarcated zone is approved within a municipality, the two areas must not in total exceed 150 hectares for the first 500 000 persons plus 20 hectares for each additional 100 000 persons included in that population.¹⁹

Example 2 – limitations relating to the size of demarcated UDZ land

Facts:

In 2015, Municipality B was designated by the Minister as an inner city which was in dire need of regenerating which resulted in the Municipality embarking on a project of reviving the city and making use of the benefits available under section 13*quat*. Before the rejuvenation, the municipality had a population of 500 000 and 150 hectares of land was demarcated as a UDZ.²⁰

¹⁶ Section 13quat(2)(a). See **Annexure E** for the definition of "urban development zone".

¹⁷ Section 13*quat*(6).

¹⁸ Section 13*quat*(7). See **2.2** for more information on the requirements for demarcation.

¹⁹ Section 13*quat*(7)(*b*)(i) read with section 13*quat*(7)(*a*)(ii).

²⁰ Section 13*quat*(7)(*a*)(i).

Owing to the improvements made to the inner city, more people made their way to the city and there was a population boom. In 2024, Municipality B had a population of 1,1 million people and a need arose for more regenerated inner-city space. Municipality B consequently applied for an additional demarcation of UDZs in 2025 which was approved by the Minister.

Result:

Under section 13quat(7)(a)(ii), if a municipality has a population of more than 500 000 persons, 150 hectares plus 20 hectares for each additional 100 000 persons included in that population may be demarcated as a UDZ.

A limitation does, however, exist under section 13quat(7)(b). This section states that if a municipality has a population of 1 million people or more, two areas may be demarcated as a UDZ in lieu of only one area as provided for under section 13quat(6). This will apply as long as the two areas do not in total exceed the one area mentioned in section 13quat(7)(a)(ii) and each area must satisfy the requirements in section 13quat(6).

The maximum size of the UDZ area for Municipality B will therefore be calculated as follows:

•	First 500 000 of population	150 hectares
•	Additional 600 000 people (20 hectares x 6)	120 hectares
•	Total hectares (150 + 120)	270 hectares

This means that Municipality B may have a total of only 270 hectares of land demarcated as UDZs within its boundaries.

The particulars of the areas that have been demarcated as UDZs were published by the Minister in the following *Government Gazettes* and are available on the National Treasury website at **www.treasury.gov.za**:

Municipality	Date of Gazette	<i>Gazette</i> Number	Notice Number
Buffalo City	10 December 2004	27077	1432
City of Cape Town	14 October 2004	26866	1156
City of Cape Town, Maitland	27 February 2013	36195	147
Ekurhuleni	6 June 2005	27656	535
Emalahleni	12 May 2006	28795	416
Emfuleni	10 December 2004	27077	1432
Emfuleni (additional demarcation)	17 December 2014	38345	1038
eThekwini Metro	10 December 2004	27077	1432
Johannesburg Metro	14 October 2004	26866	1156

Municipality	Date of Gazette	<i>Gazette</i> Number	Notice Number
Mangaung	10 December 2004	27077	1432
Matjhabeng	14 July 2006	29010	669
Mbombela	10 December 2004	27077	1432
Msunduzi	6 June 2005	27656	535
Nelson Mandela Bay	6 June 2005	27656	535
Polokwane	6 June 2005	27656	535
Sol Plaatje	10 December 2004	27077	1432
Tshwane Metro	10 December 2004	27077	1432

2.3 Trade requirement

A taxpayer will qualify for the allowance only if the relevant commercial²¹ or residential²² building that has been erected, extended, added to or improved by the taxpayer, or purchased by the taxpayer from a developer, is situated within a UDZ and is used by the taxpayer solely for the purposes of trade.²³ Further, the allowance commences only once the building has been brought into use solely for the purposes of the taxpayer's trade.

A building is considered to have been brought into use when it is actually used by the taxpayer for the first time in order to conduct trading activities. Activities leading up to a taxpayer earning income will also be considered to be trading activities as long as they are conducted with the intention of earning income for that particular trade. For example, advertising an unoccupied apartment for rental purposes will be considered as being a trading activity. However, should the apartment be used for the taxpayer's own private residential purposes while advertising the property for letting purposes, the taxpayer will be regarded as having commenced carrying on a trade in relation to the apartment only once tenants have been secured and occupation has taken place. There is no single test for when it can be said that a taxpayer has commenced carrying on a trade and each determination will depend on the specific facts and circumstances of the case.

The courts have interpreted the concept "trade" to be neither exhaustive nor restrictive.²⁴ It thus includes any activity in which a person risks something with the object of making a profit. For example, the letting of commercial or residential property at market prices with the objective of making a profit will constitute the carrying on of a trade.

²¹ The word "commercial" is defined in the *Collins Dictionary* as "1. of, connected with, or engaged in commerce; mercantile." www.collinsdictionary.com/dictionary/english/commercial [Accessed 25 June 2025]. See Interpretation Note 107 "Deduction in respect of Commercial Buildings" for consideration of the meaning of commercial.

²² The word "residential" is defined in the *Collins Dictionary* as "2. of, characterized by, or suitable for residences, or homes a residential neighborhood." www.collinsdictionary.com/dictionary/ english/residential [Accessed 25 June 2025]. See Interpretation Note 106 "Deduction in respect of certain Residential Units" for a consideration of the meaning of residential unit.

²³ Sections 13*quat*(2), (3) and (3A).

²⁴ Burgess v CIR, 1993 (4) SA 161 (A), 55 SATC 185 at 197.

A taxpayer that ceases to trade will no longer be able to deduct the allowance on the property from the year following the year of assessment in which the trading activities cease. For the year of assessment during which the taxpayer ceased trading, the full allowance can be claimed under section 13*quat* if all qualifying criteria are met since no apportionment is necessary if the period to which the allowance relates is less than a full year of assessment (see **6**).

Example 3 – Taxpayer ceases trading before claiming the full allowance

Facts:

Lessor C, the owner of an improved apartment which was situated in a UDZ, leased this unit to Lessee D. The lease agreement commenced on 1 April 2020 and ended on 31 December 2023. At the end of the lease period, Lessor C decided to use the apartment for personal residential purposes as of 1 January 2024.

All the requirements under section 13*quat* were complied with during the period that the apartment was leased to Lessee D.

Result:

Lessor C met all the requirements under section 13*quat* for the 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024 years of assessment including the requirement that the property must have been used for the purposes of trade. Lessor C could therefore claim the allowance for those specific years of assessment at a rate of 20% of the cost over five years (see **6.2**). No apportionment of the allowance was necessary for the 2021 and 2024 years of assessment even though the trade requirement was not met for all 12 months in these years (see **6**).

Lessor C could not, however, claim the final 20% of the allowance pertaining to the 2025 year of assessment since Lessor C did not use the apartment solely for trade purposes from January 2024 as required. In other words, the allowance for the 2025 year of assessment was forfeited since all the requirements of the section was not met.

2.4 Owner requirement

The building that was erected, extended, added to or improved must be owned by the person deducting the allowance. An "owner" is not defined in the Act and therefore takes its common law meaning. Ownership in immovable property such as land and buildings is indicated and confirmed by the title deed registered in the Deeds Office. Ownership in land can be conveyed from one person to another only by a deed of transfer, executed by the registrar under the Deeds Registries Act, 47 of 1937.

Thus, a person that leases a newly constructed building from another cannot deduct the allowance for any costs incurred in extending, adding to or improving the building, since the person is not the owner.

There are, however, limited instances as provided in section 12N in which a lessee that erects a building or carries out improvements to an existing building owned by a qualifying party in a UDZ will be regarded as the "owner" of the building or improvements and will therefore meet this requirement (see **7** for information on section 12N).

With regard to the purchase of a building from a "developer", the date of commencement of ownership is regarded as being the date that the building is registered in the name of the taxpayer purchasing the building. The date on which all documents are formally and finally signed by all contracting parties must also be taken into consideration (see **2.5.1**).

Example 4 – Ownership date

Facts:

E was the owner of a building that was situated within a UDZ. In March 2025, E entered into a sale agreement with F. The transfer of ownership of the building only took place in August 2025. During the period of March to August 2025, that is, prior to the transfer of ownership to F, F made certain improvements to the building. In order to claim a deduction on the costs of the improvements made, F must be the owner of the building.

Result:

Ownership in immovable property such as the building purchased by F is indicated and confirmed by registration in the Deeds Office. Although the purchase agreement was concluded in March 2025, F was regarded as the owner only from August 2025 when the transfer of ownership took place.

As such, the costs incurred by F prior to August 2025 did not qualify for an allowance since F was not the owner during March to August 2025 when the improvements were made.

The allowance will cease upon the sale of a building and the taxpayer will no longer qualify for any allowance from the year following the year of assessment in which the building was sold. All allowances that were previously deducted will be subject to the recoupment provisions contained in section 8(4)(a). In addition, such taxpayer will be subject to taxation on any capital gain made on the disposal of the building.

A subsequent purchaser that makes any extensions, additions or improvements to the newly purchased building will be able to deduct the allowance only on the costs incurred on the extensions, additions, or new improvements. The purchaser will not be able to deduct an allowance on the costs incurred by the previous owner or on the cost incurred in acquiring the building, unless the building is acquired from a developer (see **3** for further details regarding the necessary requirements).

Example 5 – The UDZ requirements

Facts:

- a) Developer G constructed a new building within a UDZ for the purpose of conducting a retail business. The cost of this new construction was R200 million (including the cost incurred in demolishing an existing building). Trade commenced on 1 April 2021. On 31 March 2024, Developer G sold the building to Purchaser H for R308 million.
- b) Purchaser H added a new roof to the entire building since the old roof was badly damaged owing to poor construction, installed moving walkways on each floor and an environmentally friendly waste-disposal system which was completed during the 2025 year of assessment. These additions were considered to form part of the structure of the building and constituted a floor area of more than 1 000 m².

Developer G and Purchaser F have February year-ends.

Result:

a) Between 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2024, Developer G deducted 44% of the costs incurred, that is, 20% (R200 million × 20% = R40 million) in the first year and 8% (R200 million × 8% = R16 million) in each of the following three years. In total, R88 million was deducted.

Note that no apportionment of the allowance is required if it relates to a period of less than a full year of assessment (see **6**).

Upon the sale of the building for R308 million to Purchaser F, Developer G had to account for tax as follows:

	R
Selling price	308 000 000
Less: Recoupment included in gross income ²⁵	(88 000 000)
Purchase price (base cost less deductions) ²⁶	(<u>112 000 000</u>)
Capital gain	108 000 000
Calculation of the recouped amount	
2022 (R200 million × 20%)	40 000 000
2023 (R200 million × 8%)	16 000 000
2024 (R200 million × 8%)	16 000 000
2025 (R200 million × 8%)	<u>16 000 000</u>
	<u>88 000 000</u>

The R88 million recouped and the taxable capital gain of R86 400 000 (R108 million \times 80%) had to be included in the taxable income of Developer G for the 2025 year of assessment.

b) Purchaser H could not deduct any allowances on the cost incurred by it on acquisition of the building from Developer G, since Developer G had previously deducted an allowance on this building.²⁷

Purchaser H was, however, entitled to deduct the allowance for the 2025 year of assessment on the cost of the additions it made, that is, costs incurred in relation to the new roof, the installation of the moving walkways and the new waste-disposal system.²⁸

²⁵ Under paragraph 35(3)(a) of the Eighth Schedule to the Act, proceeds must be reduced by any amount that was included in a person's gross income. The recoupment of R88 million was included in gross income under paragraph (*n*) of the definition of "gross income" in section 1(1).

²⁶ Under paragraph 20(3)(*a*)(i) of the Eighth Schedule to the Act, the base cost is arrived at by reducing the purchase price of R200 million by any amount which was allowable or deemed to have been allowed as a deduction (R88 million) in determining the taxable income of the taxpayer.

²⁷ Section 13*quat*(2)(*d*)(ii).

²⁸ Section 13*quat*(3)(*a*).

2.5 Date requirements

2.5.1 Commencement date requirement

The erection, extension, addition to or improvement of the building must have commenced $-^{29}$

- on or after the date on which the Minister has published the particulars of the relevant demarcated area within which the building is located in the *Gazette* (see **2.2**); and
- under a contract formally and finally signed by all parties on or after that date.

A taxpayer purchasing a building from a developer must have concluded the agreement to purchase on or after 8 November 2005.

Since the requirement is that the erection, extension, addition or improvement must have commenced "*in terms of a contract formally and finally signed by all the parties thereto*" on or after the date that the UDZ is demarcated, the relevant agreement must meet all the requirements of a valid contract. The Alienation of Land Act³⁰ provides that no alienation of land³¹ is of any force or effect unless it is contained in a deed of alienation signed by the relevant parties. It is not required that the contract be unconditional as at the relevant date, merely that it must be a valid contract and have been signed by all the parties.

No allowance may be deducted if the erection, extension, addition or improvement occurs before the demarcation date, since these projects would in all probability have been undertaken in any event. This means that even those costs relating to the demolition of an existing building or the excavating of the land which were incurred prior to the date of demarcation will be ineligible for an allowance under section 13*quat* (see **3** for a discussion on the costs deductible under this section).

2.5.2 Trade date requirement

The building or that part of a building must have been brought into use solely for the purposes of the taxpayer's trade on or before 31 March 2030 (see **2.3**).

Example 6 – Date requirements

Facts:

On 30 January 2023 Investment Company I commenced refurbishing its building which was situated in a UDZ. The particulars of the demarcation of the area were only published on 27 February 2023. The refurbishment was effected according to a contract formally and finally signed by all parties on 1 January 2023. After the completion of the refurbishment of the building, Investment Company I commenced using the building for purposes of trade on 30 September 2023.

²⁹ Section 13*quat*(2)(*b*) and (*d*).

³⁰ Act 68 of 1981 in section 2(1).

³¹ The common law principle of *superficies solo cedit* applies and provides that buildings and other structures attached to the land is the property of the owner of the land.

Result:

Investment Company I complied with all the requirements, except for the commencement date requirement (see **2.5.1**). Since Investment Company I commenced refurbishing the building before the particulars of the demarcation of the area were published on 27 February 2023, it did not qualify for an allowance on the cost of the refurbishment of the building despite part of the cost of the refurbishment being incurred after the demarcation date. The fact that the refurbishment contract was formally and finally signed before the demarcation date did not alter the fact that Investment Company I was not entitled to an allowance for the refurbishment, since the refurbishment commenced before the demarcation date.

Had the commencement date requirement been met, Investment Company I could have deducted the allowance from the date that the building was brought into use for the purposes of Investment Company I's trade, that is, 30 September 2023.

2.5.3 Treatment of the allowance not fully deducted before 1 April 2030

In the event that the allowance is not extended beyond 31 March 2030, no deductions relating to buildings brought into use after that date will be allowed. However, taxpayers who have already started claiming the allowance in previous years will be allowed to continue to do so in relation to the remaining allowances available provided that all requirements are complied with.

Example 7 – Allowances not fully deducted before the sunset clause

Facts:

- a) Taxpayer K made various improvements to an existing building which was situated within a UDZ. These improvements will be completed at the end of 2026 and Taxpayer K will commence trading from the building in January 2027.
- b) Taxpayer L also made various improvements on an adjacent building. This building was more dilapidated and required more work. It is estimated that work will only conclude at the beginning of 2030 and trade may only commence in June 2030.

Both taxpayers want to claim the allowance after trade commences. The sunset clause for section 13*quat*, that is when the allowance expires, is 31 March 2030.

Result:

- a) Taxpayer K will begin trading in January 2027 and wants to start deducting the allowance under section 13quat(3)(b) in the 2027 year of assessment. This taxpayer will be allowed to continue deducting the allowance until 2032, provided that all other requirements of the section are met.
- b) Taxpayer L will only be able to start claiming the allowance once all requirements are met, including the trade requirement. Since this taxpayer's trade will only commence in June 2030, the allowance may only be claimed after this date. However, owing to the allowance expiring on 31 March 2030 and Taxpayer L only wanting to start claiming the allowance for the first time in July 2030, no deduction will be available under section 13quat.

3. Costs that are deductible under section 13quat

For purposes of this allowance, "cost" is defined as $-^{32}$

"the costs (other than borrowing or finance costs) actually incurred in erecting or extending, adding to or improving a building or part thereof and includes any costs incurred—

- (a) in demolishing any existing building or part thereof;
- (b) in excavating the land for purposes of that erection, extension, addition or improvement; and
- (c) in respect of structures or works directly adjoining the building or part so erected, extended, added to or improved, for purposes of providing—
 - (i) water, power or parking with respect to that building or part;
 - (ii) drainage or security for that building or part;
 - (iii) means of waste disposal for that building or part; or
 - (iv) access to that building or part, including the frontage thereof;"

The following examples are regarded as costs incurred in erecting, extending, adding to or improving a building for the purposes of the allowance:

- Construction work
- Architect and approval fees
- Sidewalks
- Parking for the building
- Landscaping as part of the development (including earthworks, greenery and irrigation)
- Drainage
- Security (fences, cameras, and surveillance equipment)

The following examples are not regarded as costs for purposes of the allowance:

- Purchase price of the land
- Transfer duty or Value Added Tax
- Borrowing or financing charges
- Agent's commission, if applicable
- Transfer and related legal costs

While it is accepted under the law of property that buildings and the land upon which they are situated are considered to be a single unit, this principle does not automatically apply under the rules of taxation. In ITC 1619,³³ it was stated that the word "building" should be given its ordinary meaning and that, according to this meaning, no indication existed *"that the ground upon which the building stood formed a part of it"*. Further, that had the legislature intended otherwise, an inclusion would have been made to give effect to such intention by, for example, specifically referring to "land and buildings". Importantly, section 13*quat* limits the allowance to the cost incurred by the taxpayer for the erection, extension, addition to or improvement of a building, which clearly does not incorporate the cost of any land.

³² Section 13*quat*(1).

³³ 59 SATC 309 (C) at 314 and 315.

Therefore, since there is an absence of the word "land" in section 13*quat*, the costs incurred by the taxpayer falling within the definition of "cost" will be confined to those costs incurred in relation to the erection, extension, addition or improvement of the building or a part of the building only.

The actual cost of a building purchased from a developer is the price paid for the building itself (see **5**). In the event that the costs incurred by a taxpayer in acquiring an existing building from a person other than a developer are an inclusive amount for both the building and the land, an apportionment has to be made before an allowance can be deducted on the cost of the building.

Under section 102 of the Tax Administration Act, 28 of 2011, the taxpayer bears the onus to prove that a reasonable basis of apportionment was used.³⁴

4. The position of a developer in the context of section 13quat

A "developer" is defined as $-^{35}$

"a person who erects, extends, adds to or improves a building or part of a building-

- (a) with the purpose of disposing of that building or part thereof immediately after completion of that erection, extension, addition or improvement; and
- (*b*) disposes of the building or part of a building within three years after completion of that erection, extension, addition or improvement;"

Normally, when a new building is developed or an existing property is improved by a developer, the developer will seek to immediately sell the property at a profit in order to recover the costs of erecting or improving the building. However, an immediate sale is not always possible, and a developer may be compelled into retaining the property and using it for the purposes of letting or for private use until such time as a contract of sale can be concluded.

As a result of the above and owing to purchasers being prevented from deducting the allowance on property, which was previously let by developers, the definition of "developer" as provided under section 13*quat* was amended to make provision for the three-year use or rental rule. According to the amended definition, a developer may temporarily use or let the property that was constructed or improved by the developer for a period of three years. This rule applies from 10 January 2012 and relates to contracts of sale concluded on or after that date.

In the event that the developer had used or leased the building in question and then sold it, the purchaser will be allowed to deduct an allowance provided that the developer did not deduct any allowance under section 13*quat* on the cost of the building within the usage or rental period. Further, the developer must have constructed the building with the purpose of immediately disposing of it, despite the fact that it may be disposed of within three years after completion. If the developer does not intend to immediately dispose of the building after completion, for example, the developer intends to hold on to the property indefinitely but then subsequently decides to dispose of the building (without having deducted the allowance), the developer will not be regarded as a "developer" as defined. As such, the purchaser will not be entitled to deduct the allowance, since the building is not being acquired directly from a "developer" any longer but from a normal owner.

³⁴ Section 102(1)(*a*).

³⁵ Section 13quat(1).

If the developer had used or let the property for longer than three years after completion, the subsequent purchaser may not deduct the allowance under section 13*quat* even if no allowance was deducted. This is owing to the developer no longer meeting the requirements of the definition of a "developer". Generally, when a property is located within a UDZ, an allowance is available to the owner of the property — in this case a developer. The allowance will therefore also be available to such a developer in the capacity as owner, even if the property is used for the purposes of trade or letting for a period longer than three years after completion of the erection, extension, addition or improvement to the building.

In the event that neither the developer nor the first purchaser deducts the allowance, the next purchaser will not be able to deduct the allowance since the property is now being purchased from an owner and not directly from a developer. For this latter purchaser to deduct an allowance, further qualifying work (extension, addition or improvement) must be carried out on the property by the purchaser. A deduction may then be allowed on the costs incurred by the latter purchaser on the additional work carried out and not on the costs incurred by the developer or first purchaser.

Example 8 – The allowance when deducted by a developer

Facts:

Developer M demolished an old building which was located on privately owned land and erected a new block of flats consisting of 50 units with a total floor area of more than 1 000 m². The construction of the building was completed on 31 March 2020. The building was situated within a UDZ and construction commenced after the publication of the particulars of the demarcation of the area.

- a) After completion of the building, Developer M sold 47 of the 50 units (units 1 47). All sale agreements were concluded on 1 April 2020. Some of the purchasers used the units for private residential purposes while others used the units solely for the purposes of their trade.
- b) Five-year lease agreements were concluded for units 48 and 49. Developer M chose to deduct the allowance on these units. On the expiry of the lease agreements (31 March 2025), Developer X sold the units to Purchaser N and Purchaser O. Purchaser N, who used the unit solely to operate a fashion design business, made certain additions to the unit. Purchaser O also made certain necessary improvements to the unit in order to aid an elderly mother but did not use the unit for purposes of trade.

c) Unit 50 was retained by Developer M for private purposes.

Result:

a) The purchasers that acquired their units in 2020 immediately and directly from Developer M for the purpose of carrying on a trade were entitled to deduct the allowance, since they acquired the units from a "developer". With regard to these units, the 1 000 m² floor area requirement was inapplicable for the purchasers since the developer had already complied with the requirement (see 2.1 for more information).

b) Since units 48 and 49 were acquired by the purchasers on 31 March 2025 and Developer M had let the units for more than three years, Developer M was not regarded as a "developer" as defined under section 13*quat*, but as a normal owner. Consequently, the purchasers did not qualify for an allowance on these units, since they were not acquired from a "developer" but from an owner.

Purchaser N could deduct an allowance on the costs incurred on the new additions, since the unit was used for trade purposes. Purchaser O used the unit for private purposes (that is, not for purposes of trade), and therefore no allowance could be deducted on the improvements made by Purchaser O.

c) Developer M could not deduct any allowance on unit 50, since the trade requirement was not complied with.

Developer M would have qualified for the allowance on the demolition costs as well as the development costs incurred on the units let to the tenants, since a trade of letting of property would have been conducted.

5. Purchases from developers and deemed costs [section 13quat(3B)]

A taxpayer may deduct an allowance on the "purchase price" paid to a developer for the acquisition of a building. Under section 13quat(1), "purchase price" in relation to any building which is purchased by a taxpayer from a developer means the **lesser of** –

- "(a) the actual cost to the taxpayer to purchase that building or part; or
- (*b*) the cost which a person would have incurred had that person purchased that building or part under a cash transaction concluded at arm's length on the date on which that taxpayer purchased that building or part;"

In the event of a purchase of a building from a developer -

- 55% of the purchase price of that building, in the case of a new building erected, extended or added to by the developer [section 13*quat*(3B)(*a*)]; and
- 30% of the purchase price of that building, in the case of a building improved by the developer [section 13*quat*(3B)(*b*)],

will be deemed to be the costs incurred by the person for the erection, extension, addition to or improvement of the building.

These "deemed costs" will be regarded as costs for purposes of the allowance and no further adjustments will have to be made in this regard. The purchaser of a building will thus qualify for an allowance on the "deemed costs" pertaining to such a building according to the relevant and applicable depreciation rates provided under section 13*quat*.

Example 9 – Deemed costs upon the part-purchase of a building from a developer *Facts:*

Investor P purchased a new sectional title unit in a security complex from a developer on 2 January 2025 and immediately after the purchase brought it into use for purposes of trade. The purchase price was R1,2 million and consisted of the costs of the land and the building.

Result:

The unit purchased by Investor P was part of a new construction. As such, under section 13quat(3B)(a), 55% of the purchase price is deemed to be the cost incurred by the investor for purposes of determining the allowance.

Accordingly, provided all the other requirements of section 13*quat* were complied with, the investor would be able to deduct the allowance on 55% of R1,2 million and no adjustment has to be made to exclude costs pertaining to the land.

In other words, P may claim an allowance according to the rates provided under section 13quat(3)(a) (see **6.1**) on R660 000 (55% of R1,2 million).

6. Amount of the allowance that may be deducted from income under section 13*quat*

Depending on the type of development involved, that is, new, improved or low-cost, the allowance is calculated at a different rate of depreciation. Furthermore, in the process of deducting the allowance, no apportionment is necessary if the period to which the allowance relates is less than a full year of assessment.

6.1 The erection of a new building or the extension of or addition to any building [section 13quat(3)(a)]

The allowance will be calculated as follows in the event of a new construction, extension or addition:

• An amount equal to 20% of the cost pertaining to the **erection or extension of or addition to** the building in the year of assessment during which the building is brought into use by the taxpayer solely for the purposes of that person's trade.

When land is purchased on which a building is erected, the allowance is determined only on the cost of the erection and excludes the cost of the land. Importantly, the allowance can be deducted only from the year of assessment in which the building is brought into use by the taxpayer solely for purposes of trade, not the year of assessment in which the expenditure is incurred or when the building is complete.

• An amount equal to 8% of the cost in each of the 10 succeeding years of assessment.

Example 10 – Costs deductible on a new construction

Facts:

Investor Q constructed a new commercial building within a UDZ in order to conduct a retail business after having purchased vacant land for R5 million. The cost of the new construction was R100 million. The commercial building was erected during the 2024 year of assessment but brought into use for the purposes of Investor Q's trade only in the 2025 year of assessment.

Result:

Provided all other requirements were complied with, Investor Q was able to deduct 20% of the construction costs in the 2025 year of assessment when the building was brought into use for purposes of Investor Q's trade.

The allowance for the 2025 year of assessment amounted to R20 million (R100 million \times 20%). Investor Q was then able to deduct 8% of the R100 million for each of the next 10 years of assessment (that is, R8 million a year over the next 10 years) provided that Investor Q continued using the building for the purposes of trade.

The R5 million relating to the purchase price of the land was disregarded for the purposes of calculating the allowance. If Investor Q had failed to commence deducting the allowance in the 2025 year of assessment, Investor Q may request that SARS issue a reduced assessment for the years of assessment in which the allowances should properly have been deducted, provided of course that the applicable prescription periods³⁶ have not expired.

Example 11 – Purchase of a new building from a developer

Facts:

Investor R purchased a new commercial building directly from a developer in order to conduct a retail business. The cost of the commercial building including the land was R100 million. The contract between the developer and Investor R did not specify the cost of the land separately (compare **Example 9**).

Result:

Investor R purchased the building from a developer. In this instance, the costs incurred by Investor R are deemed to be 55% of the total purchase price paid by Investor R (see **5**). The purchase price of the building needs to be apportioned between the cost of the land and the cost of the building. The method of apportionment adopted has to be fair and reasonable.

Assuming the purchase price of R100 million was correctly apportioned, that is, R80 million for the building and R20 million for the land, and provided all other requirements are complied with, Investor R is able to deduct a total of R44 million (R80 million × 55%) over 11 years. Investor R is able to deduct 20% of the "deemed" construction costs in the first year of assessment (R44 million × 20% = R8,8 million) when the building was brought into use for purposes of trade. Thereafter, Investor R can deduct 8% of the "deemed costs" for each of the next 10 years of assessment (R44 million × 8% = R3,52 million a year over the next 10 years).

³⁶ See section 99 of the Tax Administration Act 28 of 2011.

6.2 Improvements to an existing building [section 13quat(3)(b)]

The allowance on the cost of an improvement to an existing building which preserves the existing structural or exterior framework is calculated as follows:

- An amount equal to 20% of the cost pertaining to the **improvement** of the building in the year of assessment during which the part of the building so improved is brought into use by the taxpayer solely for the purposes of trade. No apportionment is required if the building is brought into use during a year of assessment.
- An amount equal to 20% of the cost in each of the four succeeding years of assessment.

Improvements to a building will include any extension or addition to the building which is incidental to that improvement, and which preserves the existing structural or exterior framework of the building. The alteration of the structure of the building will be regarded as a new erection, addition, or extension. In such cases, the deduction of an allowance may be allowed in accordance with the rates mentioned in **6.1**. The improvement should cover the entire building or a floor area of at least $1000m^2$ in order to qualify for an allowance [section 13quat(2)(c)].

Example 12 – Improvement costs

Facts:

The owner of a 13-storey commercial building located within the boundary of a UDZ decided to improve the building by installing integrated energy-efficient technology at a cost of R1,2 million. In order to install the energy-efficient technology, a part of the building's roof had to be extensively extended. The cost of the extension was R1,6 million.

For purposes of this example, it is assumed that the 1 000 m² floor area requirement in section 13quat(2)(c) has been complied with.

Result:

The owner is able to deduct the cost of installing the energy-efficient technology in equal instalments over five years (that is, R1,2 million \times 20% = R240 000 a year over a five-year period) commencing in the year of assessment in which the technology was brought into use for purposes of the owner's trade.

The owner would have also qualified for an allowance over five years on the cost of extending the building, since the extension was incidental to that improvement (R1,6 million \times 20% = R320 000 a year).

Total allowances per year therefore amounted to R560 000 (R240 000 + R320 000). This was the amount that the owner could claim over a five-year period under section 13quat(3)(b).

6.3 The erection of a new building or the extension of or addition to any building to the extent that it relates to a low-cost residential unit [section 13*quat*(3A)(*a*)]

A "low-cost residential unit" is defined as $-^{37}$

- "(a) an apartment qualifying as a residential unit in a building located within the Republic, where—
 - (i) the cost of the apartment does not exceed R350 000; and
 - (ii) the owner of the apartment does not charge a monthly rental in respect of that apartment that exceeds one per cent of the cost; or
- (b) a building qualifying as a residential unit located within the Republic, where-
 - (i) the cost of the building does not exceed R300 000; and
 - (ii) the owner of the building does not charge a monthly rental in respect of that building that exceeds one per cent of the cost contemplated in subparagraph (i) plus a proportionate share of the cost of the land and the bulk infrastructure:

Provided that for the purposes of paragraphs (a)(ii) and (b)(ii), the cost is deemed to be increased by 10 per cent in each year succeeding the year in which the apartment or building is first brought into use;"

The deemed increase of 10% in the cost of the low-cost residential unit allows for the apartment or building to remain within the parameters of being considered "low-cost" despite the increase in rental charged. This ensures that as the cost is deemed to increase, an allowance under section 13quat(3A)(a) or (b) will normally still be permissible since the unit will continue to be classified as a "low-cost residential unit".

The allowance for low-cost residential units is determined on the following basis:

- An amount equal to 25% of the cost pertaining to the **erection or extension of or addition** to a low-cost residential unit in the year of assessment during which the unit so erected, extended or added to is brought into use by the taxpayer.
- An amount equal to 13% of that cost in each of the five succeeding years of assessment.
- An amount equal to 10% of that cost in the seventh year of assessment.

6.4 Improvements to an existing building, to the extent that it relates to a low-cost residential unit [section 13*quat*(3A)(*b*)]

The allowance for **improvements** to low-cost residential units is determined on the following basis:

- An amount equal to 25% of the cost pertaining to the improvement of the low-cost residential unit in the year of assessment during which the part of the unit so improved is brought into use by the taxpayer.
- An amount equal to 25% of that cost in each of the three succeeding years of assessment.

³⁷ Section 1(1).

Example 13 – Deducting the allowance on low-cost residential units located within a UDZ boundary

Facts:

Taxpayer S owned four residential units which were used as rental apartments. All these units were located within a UDZ. Details of the costs and rental income associated with these units were as follows:

- Unit 1: new unit erected by Taxpayer S, total costs of the erection amounted to R380 000 thus exceeding the R350 000 threshold of a low-cost residential unit as defined, rent – R2 300 per month.
- Unit 2: new unit erected by Taxpayer S, total costs R230 000, rent R2 100 per month.
- Unit 3: purchase of an existing unit by Taxpayer S, acquisition cost R140 000. Improvements made to Unit 3 are equal to R45 000. Rent – R1 300 per month.

Result:

Based on the above facts, Taxpayer S qualified for an allowance on all the units within the UDZ. However, Taxpayer S had to deduct the allowance at different rates, as illustrated below:

Unit 1

This unit did not qualify as a low-cost residential unit as the cost incurred exceeded the prescribed limit of R350 000. Thus, the more advantageous rates pertaining to low-cost residential units under section 13quat(3A)(a) did not apply. Taxpayer S was, however, able to deduct an allowance under section 13quat(3)(a), namely, 20% of the cost in the first year of assessment (that is, R380 000 × 20% = R76 000) and 8% of the cost in the succeeding 10 years of assessment (that is, R380 000 × 8% = R30 400).

Unit 2

This unit qualified as a low-cost residential unit as the cost did not exceed R350 000 and the rental charged did not exceed 1% of the cost (R230 000 × 1% = R2 100). Taxpayer S was able to deduct 25% of the cost of the unit in the first year of assessment (that is, R230 000 × 25% = R57 500) when the building was brought into use. Thereafter, Taxpayer S could deduct 13% of the cost for each of the next 5 succeeding years of assessment (that is, R230 000 × 13% = R29 900 a year for the next five years) and 10% of the cost in the seventh and final year of assessment (that is, R230 000 × 10% = R23 000).

Unit 3

This unit qualified as a low-cost residential unit since the costs did not exceed R350 000 and the rental charged did not exceed 1% of the cost (R140 000 × 1% = R1300). Taxpayer S was able to deduct 25% of the improvement costs in the year of assessment in which the unit was brought into use (that is, R45 000 × 25% = R11 250). Taxpayer S could then deduct 25% of the costs for the next three succeeding years of assessment (that is, R11 250 a year for the next three years of assessment).

If the rent had been more than 1% of the cost, the unit would not have been considered to be a low-cost residential unit and thus the rates under section 13quat(3)(b) would have applied.³⁸

³⁸ See **6.2**.

7. Construction of and improvements to buildings located on qualifying third party-owned land

The letting of government-owned land or buildings is often a necessary consideration as the three spheres of government sometimes lack the funds to undertake the essential improvements required to keep the property in a suitable condition. In an attempt to upgrade infrastructure as well as to retain ownership, the property is often let to the public who then effect improvements to the buildings. A similar situation may arise if the landowner is an exempt entity.

When land or buildings fall within a UDZ, an allowance would generally only have been available to the taxpayer carrying out the improvements if the taxpayer was the *owner* of the property and all the other requirements of section 13*quat* are complied with. As such, if the property is owned by a third party the "owner requirement" (see **2.4**) in section 13*quat*(2) prevents the lessee from deducting the costs incurred on the improvements effected.

As a result of the introduction of section 12N,³⁹ depreciation rules now apply to lessees holding rights of use or occupation of government-owned property, property owned by certain specified exempt entities or property owned by parties to a Public Private Partnership or Independent Power Producer Procurement Programme. Under this section, lessees that make improvements to property owned by qualifying third parties are deemed to be the owners of the property. Consequently, these lessees will be eligible for the specific depreciation allowances provided for under applicable provisions of the Act (including section 13*quat*) as if the lessees actually owned the property directly. The allowances may be deducted by the lessees must not be specifically excluded by section 12N(3), for example, a lessee that is a person carrying on banking, financial services or insurance business.⁴⁰

Importantly, while it is not a requirement of section 12N that the taxpayer must be *obliged* under the relevant contractual arrangement to effect the improvements, it is evident that as the improvements must be effected under a Public-Private Partnership; an agreement with the relevant sphere of government; or exempt entity or Independent Power Producer Procurement Programme, the improvements must be mandated by the relevant contractual arrangement. This means, in effect, that if the taxpayer is not mandated under the relevant contractual arrangement to effect the improvements, but nevertheless voluntarily decides to effect the improvements, the taxpayer would not fall within the ambit of section 12N.⁴¹

In the context of section 13*quat*, section 12N has the effect that a lessee effecting improvements to a building which is owned by a party contemplated in section 12N will, as the deemed owner, be able to deduct an allowance on the costs incurred, provided that all the requirements of both sections are met.

Expenditure incurred by a taxpayer in completing an improvement on property owned by a qualifying third party is deemed to be the cost of the erection, extension, addition or improvement for purposes of section 13quat(2).⁴²

³⁹ See Annexure F.

⁴⁰ See **Annexure F** for all requirements that must be complied with as well as all exclusions.

⁴¹ See Interpretation note 119 "Deductions in respect of improvements to land or buildings not owned by a taxpayer" for more detail on section 12N and section 12NA.

⁴² Section 13quat(2A).

Example 14 – Improvements on a government-owned building and new erections on government-owned land

Facts:

- a) Investor T entered into a lease agreement with a municipality to hire a municipality-owned building situated within a UDZ for a period of 10 years in order for Investor T to conduct business-related activities. According to the terms of the lease agreement, Investor T holds a right to use the building and is entitled, but not obliged, to make improvements to the building at the investor's own cost. Investor T effected improvements to the municipalityowned property at a cost of R200 000.
- b) Under a Public Private Partnership contract, Bank U acquired the use of state-owned land located within a UDZ for a predetermined period. Bank U then erected an office block on the land with the intention of using it for its banking business.
- c) Investor V entered into an agreement with a provincial government under which Investor V held a right to use a certain piece of land owned by that provincial government which was within a UDZ. The agreement stipulated that Investor V may effect improvements to the land by erecting a multi-purpose building for a minimum value of R20 million for public use. Investor V was entitled to 90% of the rentals paid by the public for the use of the building for a period of 10 years. Owing to cost escalations, the building cost R22 million on completion.

Result:

- a) In order for Investor T to deduct an allowance under section 13*quat*, Investor T had to first meet all the requirements of the section, particularly, that the taxpayer deducting the allowance had to be the owner of the building. From the facts of the case, it was clear that the municipality was the owner of the building and not Investor T. In normal circumstances, the failure to meet this requirement would have immediately disqualified Investor T from deducting the allowance. However, owing to section 12N and Investor T meeting all the requirements of this section, Investor T was deemed to be the owner of the building. As such, Investor T qualified for an allowance under section 13quat(3)(b) and could deduct an allowance of 20% a year over five years on the cost of the improvements (that is, R200 000 × 20% = R40 000).
- b) Although section 12N deems a taxpayer to be the owner of third-party owned land in limited circumstances, section 12N(3)(a) specifically states that section 12N does not apply to a taxpayer carrying on any banking, financial services or insurance business. Thus, Bank U could not be deemed to be the owner of the land upon which the office block was erected, and it was unable to deduct an allowance, since the deeming provisions of section 12N did not apply to Bank U and the ownership requirement under section 13quat(2) was not met.
- c) Investor V met all the requirements under section 12N and was deemed to be the owner of the land that the building was constructed upon. This meant that the ownership requirement under section 13quat(2) was consequently complied with and, furthermore, it was determined that all other requirements under section 13quat was also met. As such, Investor V was able to claim an allowance under section 13quat(3)(b) on the actual cost of R22 million which was incurred irrespective of the agreed upon amount of R20 million reflected in the contract.

8. Limitation for the deduction of other allowances on a building situated in an urban development zone

No deduction is allowable under section 13*quat* on the cost of a new erection, addition or extension of a building or on the improvement of an existing building if any of that cost has qualified or will qualify for a deduction from the taxpayer's income under any other section of the Act.

For example, a taxpayer who constructs a new building to be used as a hotel, will be unable to claim an allowance under section 13*quat* since section 13*bis* will apply. Likewise, a deduction will not be applicable under section 13*quat* in respect of any deduction that has been granted under section 12V.⁴³

9. Urban development zone-related documentation

Section 13*quat*(4) requires that the person deducting the allowance to be in possession of certain documentation. As a result of the introduction of the e-Filing system, it is no longer necessary for the mentioned documentation to be submitted with the relevant return of income in which the allowance is deducted.

A person is generally required to keep records, books of account or documents that enable the person to observe the requirements of a tax Act, are specifically required under a tax Act or by the Commissioner by public notice and enable SARS to be satisfied that the person has observed these requirements.⁴⁴

The period that the person needs to retain the records, books of account or documents is also prescribed.

Although records are generally required to be kept and retained for five years, there are circumstances in which they are required to be retained for longer periods.⁴⁵ The required retention periods for records, books of account or documents are as follows:

- Five years from the date of the submission of a return.⁴⁶
- If no return is submitted for a tax period but is required to be submitted, records, books of account or documents must be kept and retained indefinitely until the obligation to submit a return has been complied with, and then for five years from the date of submission of the return.⁴⁷
- If an objection or appeal against an assessment or decision is lodged, the records, books of account or documents relevant to the objection or appeal must be kept and retained until the disputed assessment or decision becomes final or the applicable fiveyear period has elapsed, whichever is the later.⁴⁸

⁴³ Section 13quat(5)(d) was inserted by section 15(1)(b) of the Taxation Laws Amendment Act 42 of 2024 with effect from 1 March 2026 and is applicable to any new building or part of a building or improvement to a building which is brought into use on or after that date.

⁴⁴ Section 29(1) of the TA Act.

⁴⁵ Section 32 of the TA Act.

⁴⁶ Section 29(2)(a) read with section 29(3)(a) of the TA Act.

⁴⁷ Section 29(2)(b) of the TA Act.

⁴⁸ Section 32(b) of the TA Act.

• A person that has been notified of or is aware of an audit or investigation by SARS must retain the records, books of account or documents relevant to that audit or investigation until it is concluded, or the applicable five-year period has elapsed, whichever is the later.⁴⁹

The records, books of account, or documents that must be kept and retained may include anything that contains a written, sound, or pictorial record or other record of information whether in physical or electronic form.

To ensure the safe retention of records as well as easy and efficient access to records by SARS, especially for inspection or audit purposes during the prescribed retention period, a person is required to keep and retain its records in their original form, in an orderly fashion and in a safe place.⁵⁰

The Electronic Record-Keeping Rules regulate the electronic form of record-keeping.⁵¹ The rules require that electronic records must be kept in their original form,⁵² and should within a reasonable time, be accessible to and readable by SARS. Other requirements deal with the location of the records, the maintenance of system documentation and measures for storage, back-ups, and conversions.⁵³

A person who wilfully and without just cause fails or neglects to retain records is guilty of an offence and on conviction is subject to a fine or imprisonment for a period not exceeding two years.⁵⁴

An allowance which has been allowed will be added back in the taxpayer's taxable income should the relevant supporting documentation not be provided upon request.

Note that the completion or submission of any of the forms mentioned below does not mean an allowance has been automatically accounted for in the name of the taxpayer. The taxpayer will have to complete their tax return by correctly completing the relevant fields pertaining to section 13*quat*.⁵⁵ Also note that there is no separate registration or approval process that has to be completed in order to claim the allowance.

⁴⁹ Section 32(a) of the TA Act.

⁵⁰ Section 30 of the TA Act.

⁵¹ See Government Notice 787 in *Government Gazette* 35733 of 1 October 2012.

⁵² Section 14 of the Electronic Communications and Transactions Act 25 of 2002 provides that a document will be regarded as being in original form if the integrity of the data is maintained, for example, when it is complete and unaltered.

⁵³ For further commentary, see the *Electronic Communications Guide*.

⁵⁴ Section 234(2)(e) of the TA Act.

⁵⁵ See the *Comprehensive Guide to the* ITR12 *Income Tax Return for Individuals* for information on how to claim the allowance in the tax return.

9.1 Documentation in relation to new or improved buildings or purchases from developers

A UDZ 1 form must be completed for *each* building for which an allowance is deducted by the taxpayer that erected, extended, added to or improved a building. This means, for example, that if five units are being sold, a form must be completed for each of these units even if all the units are being sold to the same person. This will also apply to the completion of the UDZ 2, 3 and 4 forms. The UDZ 1 form is not required for the purchase of a building from a developer.

A UDZ 2 form must be completed for a purchase of a building from a developer.

A UDZ 3 certificate is a certificate confirming the particulars mentioned in **2.1**. This certificate must accompany the UDZ 2 form. The purchase price that must be inserted in the UDZ 3 certificate must align with the definition of "purchase price" as provided for under section 13quat(1). The cost of improvements to a building must be equal to at least 20% of the purchase price paid by the taxpayer for the building [section 13quat(2)(d)(iii)]. Therefore, the cost must be based on the "purchase price" as defined.

The onus is on the person deducting the allowance to ensure that the information on the UDZ 3 certificate is correct. If the Commissioner has reason to believe that the information provided in the UDZ 3 certificate completed by the developer is not correct, the Commissioner must disallow the allowance on the building purchased from the developer, unless sufficient information is provided which can prove that the information contained in that certificate is correct.

The UDZ 1, UDZ 2 and UDZ 3 forms do not have to be submitted to SARS unless specifically requested for verification or an audit. The forms should therefore be retained for audit purposes.

A UDZ 4 form must be completed by developers for *each* building of which the cost is likely to exceed R5 million (see **10.3**). This form must be submitted to **udz4@sars.gov.za**. As mentioned above, the submission of this form does not mean that the allowance has been accounted for and a tax return form must be submitted to claim the allowance.

9.2 Documentation that must be obtained from the municipality

Location certificate

Taxpayers must obtain a location certificate, issued by the municipality, confirming that the building that was erected, improved or purchased from a developer is located within a UDZ within the boundaries of that municipality.

Certificate of occupancy

It is no longer a pre-requisite for a certificate of occupancy to be issued by the municipality. However, if one can be provided, it should be retained by the developer for future purposes.

10. Reporting requirements

The Act requires municipalities, developers, and the Commissioner to report regularly on specific aspects relating to the allowance.

10.1 By municipalities [section 13quat(9)]

Any municipality that has a demarcated UDZ within its boundaries has to provide an annual report to the Minister and the Commissioner with regard to the allowance granted. In order to enable a municipality to provide this information annually, it will be required that any person who applies for a location certificate to provide certain information to that municipality.

The following information has to be provided by the municipalities to the Minister and the Commissioner on an annual basis:⁵⁶

- a) Reporting requirements for buildings in UDZs:
 - i) On certificates confirming that a building is located within a demarcated UDZ -
 - > the name of every person to which the municipality issued such a certificate;
 - the total number of certificates issued to taxpayers by the respective municipality; and
 - the extent to which a building for which a certificate was issued is used for commercial purposes, residential purposes, low-cost residential units or industrial purposes.
 - ii) On building plans to erect, extend, add to or improve a building in each UDZ within a municipality
 - > the number of building plans approved; and
 - the estimated total cost of the erections, extensions, additions or improvements for which such plans were approved.
- b) Reporting requirements for the regeneration of UDZs:

Every municipality must report on the significant fiscal measures that have been implemented by the municipality to support regeneration of each UDZ with such municipality, including –

- the appropriation of significant funds for developing the area in the annual budget of the municipality;
- > any other fiscal measures for such development; and
- any non-monetary measures implemented in order to stimulate the regeneration of each zone within the municipality.

This information must be provided for each financial year of a municipality ending -

• on or before 30 June, or by 28 September of that particular financial year, in other words, within three months after the end of such financial year.

⁵⁶ Regulation 219 of *GG* 34113 of 11 March 2011.

The aforementioned dates are published annually in the *Gazette* by the Minister and can be found on the National Treasury website. Further, all information provided must correspond with Form A that is annexed to Regulation 219.⁵⁷

In the event that a municipality -

- fails to provide such an annual report to the Minister and to the Commissioner; and
- corrective steps are not taken by that municipality within a period specified by the Minister,

the Minister may withdraw the notice in which the particulars of an area demarcated by a municipality were published in the *Gazette*.

The effect of a withdrawal will be that the area which was demarcated by the municipality will no longer constitute a UDZ and a taxpayer will, therefore, not be able to deduct an allowance on the cost of any building that was constructed or improved within that area. Should a demarcation be withdrawn after a taxpayer has already started deducting the allowance and who would have been eligible to further allowances under this section had it not been for the withdrawal, such taxpayer will not be able to deduct any more allowances on that building. No recoupment will take place at that point owing to the withdrawal. The normal recoupment principles will, however, apply when the taxpayer disposes of the building.

A withdrawal will not take place if the municipality takes corrective steps (that is, submit the annual report or withdraw the incorrect location certificates) within a period specified by the Minister.

10.2 By developers [section 13quat(10A)]

In addition to the certificate considered in **9.1**, any developer that erects, extends, adds to or improves a building within an UDZ of which the estimated cost of the erection, extension, addition or improvement is likely to exceed R5 million must –

- inform the Commissioner within 30 days after the commencement of that erection, addition or improvement of the estimated costs of the erection, extension, addition or improvements to the building or part(s) of the building which the developer intends to sell and the estimated selling price of the building or those parts; and
- inform the Commissioner within 30 days after the sale of the building or all anticipated sales of any parts of the building have been concluded of the actual costs incurred on that building or parts of that building and the actual selling price of that building or parts of the building.

10.3 By the Commissioner [section 13quat(11)]

The Commissioner must submit an annual report to the Minister relating to the -

- number of taxpayers that have claimed the allowance during a specific year;
- total amount of allowances allowed; and
- total amount of costs which are or will be allowable as a deduction under section 13*quat*.

⁵⁷ GG 34113 of 11 March 2011.

11. Objections to the disallowance of an allowance

A person that deducted an allowance and is not satisfied with an assessment issued, for example, when an adjustment has been made by the Commissioner to the allowance deducted in the person's return of income, may object to such an assessment.

The objection must -

- be in the prescribed form and manner;
- state the grounds on which the objection is lodged; and
- reach the Commissioner within a period of 80 business days after the date of the assessment.

A person aggrieved by an assessment may, before lodging an objection, request SARS to provide reasons for the assessment to enable the person to formulate an objection. The request, amongst other things, must be made in the prescribed form and manner and delivered to SARS within 30 days from the date of the assessment.

Further information regarding the objection and appeal procedure is set out in the *Guide on Tax Dispute Resolution*.

12. Interpretational issues relating to section 13quat

Queries relating to the interpretation of section 13*quat* may be forwarded to **policycomments@sars.gov.za**. All other operational issues must be directed to the relevant SARS branch office.

13. Conclusion

In summary:

- Section 13*quat* provides for an accelerated depreciation allowance on the cost of the erection, extension, addition or improvement of any commercial or residential building or a part of a building as well as low-cost residential units. The allowance is available only for buildings brought into use on or before 31 March 2030.
- There are a number of requirements that must be met before the allowance is granted, of which all must be met.
- A taxpayer that purchases a building directly from a developer will be able to deduct an allowance provided that the developer did not deduct any allowance on the cost of the building within the usage or rental period. If the developer had used or let the property for longer than three years after completion, the subsequent purchaser may not deduct the allowance (even if the developer did not deduct an allowance) as the developer will no longer constitute a "developer" as defined.
- In the event of a purchase of a building from a developer
 - 55% of the purchase price of that building, in the case of a new building erected, extended or added to by the developer; and
 - 30% of the purchase price of that building, in the case of a building improved by the developer,

will be deemed to be costs incurred by the person for the erection, extension, addition to or improvement of the building.

- Depending on the type of development involved, that is, new, improved or low-cost, the allowance is calculated at different rates.
- A lessee that effects improvements to a building that is owned by a party contemplated in section 12N, will, as the deemed owner, be able to deduct an allowance on the costs incurred in erecting, adding to, extending or improving such building.
- Taxpayers deducting the allowance must be in possession of the necessary UDZ forms and a location certificate.
- Attention must be paid to all the reporting requirements provided under section 13quat.

Annexure A – UDZ 1

	INCOME TAX					L	JDZ [.]	1
	Deduction claimed Erection or extensi improvement of a k within an Urban De	on c build	of or ling/	add part	ition of a	to or	-	r C
Notes:			P					
 This form must be completed in respect of the erection or extension of, claimed in terms of section 13quat of the Income Tax Act, 1962. It sho of which a deduction is claimed in terms of this section of the Act. A UI 	uld, however, not be completed in respect of							
 This form must, together with the following documentation, be retained allowance is claimed: A location certificate obtained from the relevant municipality; A certificate of occupancy obtained from the relevant municipality. No UDZ allowance would be allowed if this documentation cannot be p 		ed with	the rele	vant ret	urn of inc	come on v	vhich the	UDZ
Particulars of taxpayer								
Name								
Income tax reference no.			Y	ear of a	assessm	nent		
Particulars of building/part of building								
Number of location certificate issued by municipality								
Relevant municipality in which boundaries building is located								
Total cost of:								
(a) Erection, extension or addition to building/part of building		R						
(b) Improvement of building/part of building		R						
Has a certificate of occupancy been issued by the municipality in	n respect of this building/part of the bui	lding?				YE	S N	
Date when you became the owner of the building/part	lding				Υ –		i – D	
Date of commencement of erection, extension, addition to or imp Date when contract pertaining to erection, extension, addition to building was formally and finally signed by all parties					Y -		- D	
Particulars relating to deduction claimed								
Er	ection or extension of or addition to building/part of building		Imj	oroven	nent of l build		/part of	
Deduction(s) claimed during current year of assessment $\ \mbox{\bf R}$		R						
Deduction(s) claimed during previous year(s) of assessment R		R						
Deduction(s) that can be claimed in future year(s) of assessment $\ {\bf R}$		R						
Total costs (Total of above 3 amounts)		R						
Date when building/part of building was brought into use solely f	for purposes of trade				Y -		- D	
Period used solely for purposes of trade: From	C C Y Y - M M - D. D	to			Y -		- D	
If the building/part of the building was not used solely for purpos	es of trade during the entire year of as	sessm	ent, pl	ease p	ovide th	ne reaso	n(s) the	refor
Main huging a for which huilding (part of huilding was used during	a year of accommont							
Main business for which building/part of building was used durin	g year of assessment							
Declaration								
I,				, h	ereby ce	ertify tha	t the	
particulars stated are true and correct to the best of my knowled	ge and belief.							
Signed at	on this day of						20	
	4.4							

Annexure B – UDZ 2

		INCOME	TAX						UD	Z 2	2
		Purcha	tion claimed ase of a buil an Develop	lding/	part	of a					I
Notes:											
 This form must be completed in respect of the purchase of a b deduction is claimed in terms of section 13quat of the Income 		building erect	ed, extended, added	to or impr	oved by	/ a dev	eloper i	in respec	t of whi:	ich a	
 This form must, together with the following documentation, be allowance is claimed: A location certificate obtained from the relevant municipality A certificate of occupancy obtained from the relevant municipality A completed UDZ3 No UDZ allowance would be allowed if this documentation car 	y; cipality.			itted with t	he relev	vant ret	urn of i	ncome o	n which	i the L	JDZ
Particulars of taxpayer											
Name											
Income tax reference no.					Ye	ear of a	assess	sment			
Particulars of building/part of building											
Number of location certificate issued by municipality											
Relevant municipality in which boundaries building is loc	ated										
Total cost (purchase price) of:											
(a) Building purchased directly from developer that erect	ed, extended o	r added to t	he building	R							
(b) Building purchased directly from developer that impro	oved the buildir	g		R							
Has a certificate of occupancy been issued by the munic	ipality to the de	eveloper in	respect of this build	ding/part	of the	buildir	ng?		YES	NC	
Deemed costs for purposes of the deduction in respect of the building/part of building (55% of the cost in (a) above		or extensior	of or addition to	R							
Deemed costs for purposes of the deduction in respect of building (30% of the cost in (b) above)		ent of the bu	ilding/part of	R							
Date when agreement to purchase the building/part of bu	uilding was cor	cluded				CY	Y	- M	м –		D
Particulars relating to deduction claimed											
			n of or addition t of building	0	Imp	roven		f buildi Iding	ng/pai	rt of	
Deduction(s) claimed during current year of assessment		in an ing/part	or building	R			bui	lanig			
Deduction(s) claimed during previous year(s) of assessment	R			R							
Deduction(s) that can be claimed in future year(s) of assessment	R			R							
Total "deemed costs" (Total of above 3 amounts)	R			R						-	۲
Date when building was brought into use solely for purpo						СҮ	Y.	- M	м –		
Period building was used solely for purposes of trade:		Y Y _	M M – D I	D to		CY	Y.	- M	M -		
If the building was not used solely for purposes of trade of											
Main business or trade for which property was used durin	ng year of asse	essment									
Declaration											
Declaration						, h	ereby	certify t	hat the	Э	
particulars stated are true and correct to the best of my k	knowledge and	belief.									
Signed at	on this		day of						2	20	
	011 0113	1_1	day of								

Annexure C – UDZ 3

	175	INCOME TAX			UDZ 3
	110	Developer	Certificate		
Notes:	on of compliance with the requirements of costic	12 guot(1)(d)(iii) of the	Income Tay Act. 1062 and	must be completed by	u the developer
	on of compliance with the requirements of sectior h the following documentation, be retained for au				
allowance is claimed:	ined from the relevant municipality;				
 A certificate of occupancy A completed UDZ2 	obtained from the relevant municipality.		(0) 50		
Particulars of taxpayer	allowed if this documentation cannot be provide	a to the Commissioner	OF SARS.		
Name					
Income tax reference no.					
Particulars of building/par	t of building				
Description of building/					
part of building as per title deed					
Physical address					
				Postal code	
Purchase price R					
Date when agreement to pu	urchase was concluded			C Y Y - M	1 M – D D
If not entire building, which	part of building was sold to the taxpayer?				
Date of commencement of	erection, extension, addition or improveme	nt of building/part o	building	C Y Y - M	
	, addition or improvement cover the:	ant of building/part o	building		
A Entire building	B If not the entire building, a flo	or area of at least 1	000m²	C Neither (A	(B) nor (B)
Date when occupancy certi	ficate was issued in respect of the building	/part of building		C Y Y - M	1 M – D D
	uilding was improved, was the expenditure purchase price paid by the above-mentior				YES NO
Particulars of developer					
Name					
Income tax reference no.					
Postal address					
				Postal co	ode
Work telephone number	C O D E - N U M E	BER	Cellphone numb	ber N U M	BER
If the cost of the erection, e in respect of the above-mer	extension, addition or improvement exceedent	ed R5 million, was a	UDZ4 completed and s	ubmitted to SARS	YES NO
Have you claimed any allow	wance under section 13 <i>quat</i> in respect of th	nis building/part of th	e building?		YES NO
Declaration by developer					
I, company the public officer and belief.	of the company), hereby confirm that the a	bove-mentioned pa	rticulars are true and co	, the developer (in prrect to the best of	
Signed at	on this	3	day of		20
	On the				20
		1.1			

Annexure D – UDZ 4

S	MXJ				UDZ 4
		Developer in	rormation		
lotes:					
. This form must be complete	d by a developer to comply with the rep			Act, 1962.	
	d with regard to each building in respec completed and the form submitted to SA or the parts which the developer intend			xtension of or addition	to or
	or the parts which the developer intend completed and the form submitted to SA				
	: Legislative Policy, Private Bag X923, F	-			
Particulars of developer					
Name					
Income tax reference no.					
Postal address					
				Postalcode	
Work telephone number	C O D E - N U		Cellphone number		
uniouluio or bunanigipu	t of ballang				
Particulars of building/pa	rt of building				
Description of building					
Description of building					
Description of building Physical address					
				Postal code	
Physical address	e case of a building/part of a building	ıg subdivided into units		Postal code	
Physical address	e case of a building/part of a buildin	ıg subdivided into units		Postal code	
Physical address	e case of a building/part of a buildin	ıg subdivided into units		Postal code	
Physical address	e case of a building/part of a buildin	ıg subdivided into units		Postal code	
Physical address	e case of a building/part of a buildin	ng subdivided into units		Postal code	
Physical address Total number of units in the Part A	e case of a building/part of a buildin		R	Postal code	
Physical address Total number of units in the Part A Estimated costs of erection		ding or part(s) intended for sale	R	Postal code	
Physical address Total number of units in the Part A Estimated costs of erection Estimated costs of improve	n or extension of or addition to build	ding or part(s) intended for sale part(s) intended for sale		Postal code	
Physical address Total number of units in the Part A Estimated costs of erection Estimated costs of improve	n or extension of or addition to build	ding or part(s) intended for sale part(s) intended for sale	R	Postal code	
Physical address Total number of units in the Part A Estimated costs of erection Estimated costs of improve	n or extension of or addition to build ement in respect of the building or building or part(s) intended for sale	ding or part(s) intended for sale part(s) intended for sale	R	Postal code	
Physical address Total number of units in the Part A Estimated costs of erection Estimated costs of improve	n or extension of or addition to build ement in respect of the building or building or part(s) intended for sale	ding or part(s) intended for sale part(s) intended for sale	R	Postal code	
Physical address Total number of units in the Part A Estimated costs of erection Estimated costs of improve	n or extension of or addition to build ement in respect of the building or building or part(s) intended for sale	ding or part(s) intended for sale part(s) intended for sale	R	Postal code	
Physical address Total number of units in the Part A Estimated costs of erection Estimated costs of improve Estimated selling price of I Date of commencement of Part B	n or extension of or addition to build em ent in respect of the building or building or part(s) intended for sale f erection, extension, addition or im	ding or part(s) intended for sale part(s) intended for sale	R	Postal code	
Physical address Total number of units in the Part A Estimated costs of erection Estimated costs of improve Estimated selling price of I Date of commencement of Part B	n or extension of or addition to build ement in respect of the building or building or part(s) intended for sale	ding or part(s) intended for sale part(s) intended for sale	R	Postal code 2 Y Y — M 2 Y Y — M	
Physical address Total number of units in the Part A Estimated costs of erection Estimated costs of improve Estimated selling price of I Date of commencement of Part B Actual costs incurred in res	n or extension of or addition to build em ent in respect of the building or building or part(s) intended for sale f erection, extension, addition or im	ding or part(s) inten ded for sale part(s) intended for sale provement e building that was sold	R	Postal code	
Physical address Total number of units in the Part A Estimated costs of erection Estimated costs of improve Estimated selling price of I Date of commencement of Part B Actual costs incurred in res Actual selling price of build	n or extension of or addition to build ement in respect of the building or puilding or part(s) intended for sale rerection, extension, addition or im spect of the building or part(s) of the	ding or part(s) intended for sale part(s) intended for sale provement e building that was sold	R	Postal code	
Physical address Total number of units in the Part A Estimated costs of erection Estimated selling price of I Date of commencement of Part B Actual costs incurred in res Actual selling price of build Date when occupancy cert	n or extension of or addition to build em ent in respect of the building or building or part(s) intended for sale f erection, extension, addition or im spect of the building or part(s) of the ling or parts of building that was so	ding or part(s) intended for sale part(s) intended for sale provement e building that was sold	R	Postal code Image: State	

13*quat.* **Deductions in respect of erection or improvement of buildings in urban development zones.**—(1) For the purposes of this section—

"certificate of occupancy"

"cost" means the costs (other than borrowing or finance costs) actually incurred in erecting or extending, adding to or improving a building or part thereof and includes any costs incurred—

- (a) in demolishing any existing building or part thereof;
- (b) in excavating the land for purposes of that erection, extension, addition or improvement; and
- (c) in respect of structures or works directly adjoining the building or part so erected, extended, added to or improved, for purposes of providing—
 - (i) water, power or parking with respect to that building or part;
 - (ii) drainage or security for that building or part;
 - (iii) means of waste disposal for that building or part; or
 - (iv) access to that building or part, including the frontage thereof;

"developer" means a person who erects, extends, adds to or improves a building or part of a building—

- (a) with the purpose of disposing of that building or part thereof immediately after completion of that erection, extension, addition or improvement; and
- (*b*) disposes of the building or part of a building within three years after completion of that erection, extension, addition or improvement;

"**purchase price**" in relation to any building or part of a building purchased by the taxpayer means the lesser of—

- (a) the actual cost to the taxpayer to purchase that building or part; or
- (b) the cost which a person would have incurred had that person purchased that building or part under a cash transaction concluded at arm's length on the date on which that taxpayer purchased that building or part;

"urban development zone" means an area demarcated by a municipality in terms of subsection (6), the particulars of which were published in the *Gazette* in terms of subsection (8);

(2) There must be allowed to be deducted from the income of the taxpayer an allowance determined in terms of subsection (3) or (3A), in respect of the cost of the erection, extension, addition or improvement of any commercial or residential building or part of a building which is owned by the taxpayer and is used solely for purposes of that taxpayer's trade, if—

- (a) that building is situated within an urban development zone;
- (b) the erection, extension, addition or improvement was commenced by the taxpayer or the developer, as the case may be, on or after the date of publication of the notice contemplated in subsection (8) in respect of that urban development zone, in terms of a contract formally and finally signed by all parties thereto on or after that date;
- (c) the erection, extension, addition to or improvement by the taxpayer or developer covers either the entire building or a floor area of at least 1 000 m² of that building; and

- (d) in the case where the taxpayer purchased that building or part from a developer—
 - (i) the agreement to purchase was concluded on or after 8 November 2005;
 - (ii) that developer has not claimed any allowance under this section in respect of that building or part; and
 - (iii) if the developer improved the building or part as contemplated in subsection (3)(b) or (3A)(b), that developer has incurred expenditure in respect of those improvements which is equal to at least 20 per cent of the purchase price paid by the taxpayer in respect of that building or part; and

(e)

(2A) For the purposes of this section, if a taxpayer completes an improvement as contemplated in section 12N, the expenditure incurred by the taxpayer to complete the improvement shall be deemed to be the cost of the erection, extension, addition or improvement contemplated in subsection (2).

- (3) The amount of the allowance contemplated in subsection (2)-
- (a) in the case of the erection of any new building or the extension of or addition to any building (other than a building in respect of which paragraph (*b*) applies), is equal to—
 - (i) 20 per cent of the cost to the taxpayer of the erection or extension of or addition to that building, which is deductible in the year of assessment during which that building is brought into use by that taxpayer solely for the purposes of that taxpayer's trade; and
 - (ii) eight per cent of that cost in each of the 10 succeeding years of assessment;
- (b) in the case of the improvement of any existing building or part of a building (including any extension or addition which is incidental to that improvement) where the existing structural or exterior framework thereof is preserved, is equal to—
 - (i) 20 percent of the cost to the taxpayer of the improvement, extension or addition which is deductible in the year of assessment during which the part of the building so improved, extended or added is brought into use by the taxpayer solely for the purposes of that taxpayer's trade; and
 - (ii) 20 per cent of that cost in each of the four succeeding years of assessment.
- (3A) The amount of the allowance contemplated in subsection (2)-
- (a) in the case of the erection of any new building or the extension of or addition to any building, to the extent that it relates to a low-cost residential unit, (other than any improvement in respect of which paragraph (*b*) applies) is equal to—
 - (i) 25 per cent of the cost to the taxpayer of the erection or extension of or addition to that building, which is deductible in the year of assessment during which that building is brought into use by that taxpayer;
 - (ii) 13 per cent of that cost in each of the five succeeding years of assessment; and
 - (iii) 10 per cent of that cost in the year of assessment following the last year contemplated in subparagraph (ii);
- (b) in the case of the improvement of any existing building or part of a building, to the extent that it relates to a low-cost residential unit, (including any extension or addition which is incidental to that improvement) where the existing structural or exterior framework thereof is preserved, is equal to—
 - (i) 25 per cent of the cost to the taxpayer of the improvement, which is deductible in the year of assessment during which the part of the building so improved, is brought into use by the taxpayer; and
 - (ii) 25 per cent of that cost in each of the three succeeding years of assessment.

(3B) For purposes of subsection (3) or (3A), where the taxpayer purchased a building or part of a building from a developer—

- (a) 55 per cent of the purchase price of that building or part of a building, in the case of a new building erected, extended or added to by that developer as contemplated in subsection (3)(a) or (3A)(a); and
- (*b*) 30 per cent of the purchase price of that building or part of a building, in the case of a building improved by that developer as contemplated in subsection (3)(*b*) or (3A)(*b*),

is deemed to be costs incurred by that taxpayer in respect of the erection, extension, addition to or improvement of that building or part of a building.

(4) No deduction shall be allowed under this section, unless the taxpayer has obtained or determined the following for submission to the Commissioner in such form and within such time as may be prescribed by the Commissioner—

- (a) a certificate issued by the municipality to the taxpayer confirming that the building is located within an urban development zone within that municipality;
- (b) the total amount of the costs to the taxpayer (other than a taxpayer contemplated in paragraph (*d*)) of the erection, extension, addition or improvement and the extent that those costs relate to any portion of a building;
- (c) particulars as to whether the costs referred to paragraph (b) were incurred in respect of the erection or extension of or addition to a building as contemplated in subsection (3)(a) or the improvement of a building as contemplated in subsection (3)(b); and
- (d) in the case of a taxpayer who purchased the building or part of a building from a developer—
 - (i) the purchase price of that building or part;
 - (ii) the amount of the purchase price deemed to be a cost incurred by the taxpayer in terms of subsection (3A); and
 - (iii) a certificate from the developer in the form prescribed by the Commissioner confirming that the requirements in subsection (2)(b), (c) and (d) have been met.

(5) No deduction shall be allowed under this section in respect of any building or part of a building—

- (a) where that taxpayer ceased to use that building, or part solely for purposes of that taxpayer's trade during any previous year of assessment in or prior to which an allowance contemplated in subsection (2) was claimed;
- (b) which has been disposed of by the taxpayer during any previous year of assessment;
- (c) which is brought into use by the taxpayer after 31 March 2030; or
- (*d*) in respect of which a deduction has been granted to the taxpayer under section 12V.
- (6) For the purposes of this section, one area may be demarcated by a municipality where-
- (i) that area is a developed urban location with the municipality of Buffalo City, Cape Town, Ekurhuleni, Emalahleni, Emfuleni, eThekwini, Johannesburg, Mahikeng, Mangaung, Matjhabeng, Mbombela, Msunduzi, Nelson Mandela, Polokwane, Sol Plaatje or Tshwane;
 - (ii) that area is demarcated through formal resolution by the relevant municipal council;
 - (iii) that area is prioritised in that municipality's integrated development plan adopted and undertaken in terms of Chapter 5 of the Local Government: Municipal Systems Act, 2000 (Act No. 32 of 2000) as a priority area for further investments to promote business or industrial activity or residential settlements to support such activity;

	of th	area proportionately contributes or previously contributed a significant portion ne total revenue collections for all areas located within the current boundaries nat municipality, as measured in the form of—
	(aa)	
	(bb)	assessed property values,
		where the contribution from that area is undergoing a sustained real or nominal line; and
	., -	ificant fiscal measures have been implemented by that municipality to support regeneration of that area, including—
	(aa)	the appropriation of significant funds for developing the area in the annual budget of the municipality;
	(bb)	special tariffs for categories of residential, commercial or industrial users; or
	(<i>cc</i>)	partnership arrangements with the business community for the promotion of urban development within that area; or
(b)	Municipa	a is approved by the Minister by notice in the Gazette, after application by a ality in the form and manner and at the place and time that the Minister es, if the area complies with criteria as the Minister must prescribe by on.
(7) (<i>a</i>) exceed—	Subject	to paragraph (<i>d</i>), the area demarcated in terms of subsection (6) may not
(i)		at municipality has a population of not more than 500 000 persons, a total area ectares; or
(ii)		nat municipality has a population of more than 500 000 persons, 150 hectares nectares for each additional 100 000 persons included in that population.
(b) W council may subsection (6)	demarca	t municipality has a population of 1 million persons or more, the municipal ate two areas in lieu of the one area demarcated in terms of d that—
(i)	the two a	areas do not in total exceed the one area contemplated in paragraph (a) (ii); and
(ii)	each are	ea otherwise satisfies the requirements of subsection (6).
· · /		municipality has a population of less than 1 million persons the Minister may by prove that municipality for the purposes of paragraph (<i>b</i>) in terms of subsection
figures as dete	ermined b	es of this subsection, the population of a municipality shall be the population y Statistics South Africa in the Census for 2011 and the total population of that unded to the nearest multiple of 100 000.
(<i>d</i>) T paragraph (<i>a</i>)		demarcated in terms of subsection (6) may exceed the limits contemplated in
(i)		icipality proves to the Minister that the excess area is integrally related to the nin the limitation contemplated in paragraph (<i>a</i>);
(ii)		nicipality can prove to the Minister that sound economic reasons exist for ating a larger area; and
(iii)		
(iv)		ster is satisfied that the demarcation of the excess area would fall within nent's affordability constraints.

(8) The Minister must publish by notice in the *Gazette* particulars of an area demarcated by a municipality after that municipality has proved to the Minister that the area so demarcated complies with the provisions of subsection (6).

(9) Every municipality must provide a report annually to the Commissioner and the Minister in respect of each urban development zone located within that municipality containing such information, within such time and in such manner as is prescribed by the Minister.

- (10) Where-
- (a) a municipality does not provide an annual report as contemplated in subsection (9) or the Commissioner reports to the Minister that the municipality has issued a certificate contemplated in subsection (4)(a) in respect of a building that is located outside an urban development zone; and
- (b) corrective steps are not taken by that municipality within a period specified by the Minister,

the Minister may withdraw the notice contemplated in subsection (8) for that municipality in respect of contracts formally and finally signed by all parties thereto on or after the date of withdrawal.

(10A) Every developer who erects, extends, adds to or improves any building within an urban development zone must, if the estimated cost of that erection, extension, addition or improvement is likely to exceed R5 million—

- (a) inform the Commissioner within 30 days after commencement of the erection, extension, addition or improvement of the estimated costs thereof in respect of the building or the parts which the developer intends to sell and the estimated selling price of that building or those parts; and
- (*b*) inform the Commissioner within 30 days after sale of the building or all anticipated sales of any parts of the building have been concluded of the actual costs incurred in respect of that building or parts and the actual selling price of that building or parts thereof.

(10B) If the Commissioner has reason to believe that the information provided in the certificate by a developer as contemplated in subsection (4)(d)(iii) is not correct, the Commissioner must disallow any deduction claimed under this section, unless sufficient information is provided to the Commissioner to prove that the information contained in that certificate is correct.

(11) The Commissioner must on an annual basis submit a report to the Minister containing information relating to—

- (a) the number of taxpayers which have during the relevant year claimed an allowance in terms of this section;
- (b) the total amount of the deductions by taxpayers allowed in that year in terms of this section; and
- (c) the total amount of the costs to those taxpayers which are or will be allowable as a deduction in terms of this section.

Annexure F – Section 12N

 ions in respect of improvements not owned by taxpayer.—(1) If a taxpayer— ds a right of use or occupation of land or a building; cts an improvement on the land or to the building in terms of— a Public Private Partnership; an agreement in terms of which the right of use or occupation is granted, if the land or building is owned by— (aa) the government of the Republic in the national, provincial or local sphere; or (bb) any entity of which the receipts and accruals are exempt from tax in terms of section 10(1)(cA) or (t); or … the Independent Power Producer Procurement Programme administered by the Department of Energy; urs expenditure to effect the improvement contemplated in paragraph (b); and s or occupies the land or building for the production of income or derives income in the land or building, for the purposes of any deduction contemplated in section 11D, 12B, 12C, 12D, 12F, , 13ter, 13quat, 13quin, 13sex or 36, and for the purposes of the Eighth Schedule, ne owner of the improvement so completed. en the right of use or occupation terminates, the taxpayer must be deemed to have provement to the owner of the land or building on the later of the date when—
 a Public Private Partnership; an agreement in terms of which the right of use or occupation is granted, if the land or building is owned by— (aa) the government of the Republic in the national, provincial or local sphere; or (bb) any entity of which the receipts and accruals are exempt from tax in terms of section 10(1)(cA) or (t); or the Independent Power Producer Procurement Programme administered by the Department of Energy; ars expenditure to effect the improvement contemplated in paragraph (b); and s or occupies the land or building for the production of income or derives income in the land or building, for the purposes of any deduction contemplated in section 11D, 12B, 12C, 12D, 12F, 13ter, 13quat, 13quin, 13sex or 36, and for the purposes of the Eighth Schedule, he owner of the improvement so completed.
 an agreement in terms of which the right of use or occupation is granted, if the land or building is owned by— (aa) the government of the Republic in the national, provincial or local sphere; or (bb) any entity of which the receipts and accruals are exempt from tax in terms of section 10(1)(cA) or (t); or the Independent Power Producer Procurement Programme administered by the Department of Energy; urs expenditure to effect the improvement contemplated in paragraph (b); and s or occupies the land or building for the production of income or derives income in the land or building, for the purposes of any deduction contemplated in section 11D, 12B, 12C, 12D, 12F, 13<i>ter</i>, 13<i>quat</i>, 13<i>quin</i>, 13<i>sex</i> or 36, and for the purposes of the Eighth Schedule, he owner of the improvement so completed.
 or building is owned by— (aa) the government of the Republic in the national, provincial or local sphere; or (bb) any entity of which the receipts and accruals are exempt from tax in terms of section 10(1)(cA) or (t); or the Independent Power Producer Procurement Programme administered by the Department of Energy; urs expenditure to effect the improvement contemplated in paragraph (b); and s or occupies the land or building for the production of income or derives income in the land or building, for the purposes of any deduction contemplated in section 11D, 12B, 12C, 12D, 12F, 13<i>ter</i>, 13<i>quat</i>, 13<i>quin</i>, 13<i>sex</i> or 36, and for the purposes of the Eighth Schedule, ne owner of the improvement so completed.
 (<i>bb</i>) any entity of which the receipts and accruals are exempt from tax in terms of section 10(1)(<i>c</i>A) or (<i>t</i>); or the Independent Power Producer Procurement Programme administered by the Department of Energy; ars expenditure to effect the improvement contemplated in paragraph (<i>b</i>); and s or occupies the land or building for the production of income or derives income in the land or building, for the purposes of any deduction contemplated in section 11D, 12B, 12C, 12D, 12F, 13<i>ter</i>, 13<i>quat</i>, 13<i>quan</i>, 13<i>sex</i> or 36, and for the purposes of the Eighth Schedule, he owner of the improvement so completed.
of section 10(1)(<i>c</i> A) or (<i>t</i>); or the Independent Power Producer Procurement Programme administered by the Department of Energy; urs expenditure to effect the improvement contemplated in paragraph (<i>b</i>); and s or occupies the land or building for the production of income or derives income in the land or building, for the purposes of any deduction contemplated in section 11D, 12B, 12C, 12D, 12F, ., 13 <i>ter</i> , 13 <i>quat</i> , 13 <i>quan</i> , 13 <i>sex</i> or 36, and for the purposes of the Eighth Schedule, he owner of the improvement so completed.
Department of Energy; urs expenditure to effect the improvement contemplated in paragraph (<i>b</i>); and s or occupies the land or building for the production of income or derives income in the land or building, for the purposes of any deduction contemplated in section 11D, 12B, 12C, 12D, 12F, , 13ter, 13quat, 13quin, 13sex or 36, and for the purposes of the Eighth Schedule, he owner of the improvement so completed. en the right of use or occupation terminates, the taxpayer must be deemed to have
s or occupies the land or building for the production of income or derives income in the land or building, for the purposes of any deduction contemplated in section 11D, 12B, 12C, 12D, 12F, a, 13 <i>ter</i> , 13 <i>quat</i> , 13 <i>quin</i> , 13 <i>sex</i> or 36, and for the purposes of the Eighth Schedule, he owner of the improvement so completed.
s or occupies the land or building for the production of income or derives income in the land or building, for the purposes of any deduction contemplated in section 11D, 12B, 12C, 12D, 12F, , 13 <i>ter</i> , 13 <i>quat</i> , 13 <i>quin</i> , 13 <i>sex</i> or 36, and for the purposes of the Eighth Schedule, he owner of the improvement so completed.
n the land or building, for the purposes of any deduction contemplated in section 11D, 12B, 12C, 12D, 12F, , 13 <i>ter</i> , 13 <i>quat</i> , 13 <i>quin</i> , 13 <i>sex</i> or 36, and for the purposes of the Eighth Schedule, ne owner of the improvement so completed. en the right of use or occupation terminates, the taxpayer must be deemed to have
, 13 <i>ter</i> , 13 <i>quat</i> , 13 <i>quin</i> , 13 <i>sex</i> or 36, and for the purposes of the Eighth Schedule, ne owner of the improvement so completed. In the right of use or occupation terminates, the taxpayer must be deemed to have
-
sovement to the owner of the land of building on the later of the date when—
right of use or occupation terminated; or
use or occupation ended.
right of use or occupation terminates and the taxpayer—
tinues to use or occupy the land or building; or
ews the right of use or occupation,
of use or occupation must be deemed to be the same right of use or occupation as occupation previously held by the taxpayer.
tion does not apply if the taxpayer—
person carrying on any banking, financial services or insurance business; or
ers into an agreement whereby the right of use or occupation of the land or building ranted to any other person, unless—
the land or building is occupied by that other person and that other person is a company that is a member of the same group of companies as that taxpayer in terms of such an agreement;
the cost of maintaining the land or building and of carrying out repairs thereto required in consequence of normal wear and tear is borne by the taxpayer; and
subject to any claim that the taxpayer may have against the other person by reason of the other person's failure to take proper care of the land or building, the risk of